STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**ORIGINAL**

APPEAL FROM THE STATE GRAND JURY  
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

JUN - 6 2014

Appellate Case No. 2014-001058  
Lower Court Order No. 2014-GS-47-237

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Ex parte: Robert W. Harrell, Jr,

Respondent.

v.

Attorney General of the  
State of South Carolina,

Appellant,

In re: State Grand Jury Investigation.

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

ALAN WILSON  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
CHIEF DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT D. COOK  
SOLICITOR GENERAL

W. ALLEN MYRICK  
SR. ASSISTANT DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL

S. CREIGHTON WATERS

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THE STATE GRAND JURY WAS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO INVESTIGATE ALLEGED MATTERS OF PUBLIC CORRUPTION ABSENT A REFERRAL FROM THE HOUSE ETHICS COMMITTEE, WHERE: (1) THIS COURT HAS ALREADY REJECTED SUCH A CONCLUSION IN *THRIFT*; (2) *RAINEY* WAS A CIVIL MATTER WITH NO EFFECT ON THE CURRENT CRIMINAL ONE; (3) THE LEGISLATIVE HISTORY, OVERWHELMING CASE LAW, AND THE STATUTORY LANGUAGE ITSELF PRECLUDE ANY CONCLUSION THAT THE REFERRAL PROVISION IS A MANDATORY PREREQUISITE TO INVESTIGATION AND PROSECUTION; (4) THE STATE GRAND JURY'S JURISDICTION AND BROAD POWERS TO INVESTIGATE ARE SEPARATE FROM THE ETHICS ACT, AND IT IS NOT FOREVER CIRCUMSCRIBED BY THE CITIZEN'S COMPLAINT THAT INITIATED IT; AND (5) SEPARATION OF POWERS NEITHER PRECLUDES INVESTIGATION AND PROSECUTION OF SITTING LEGISLATORS NOR PERMITS A MANDATORY REFERRAL TO INFRINGE UPON THE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY TO PROSECUTE CRIME?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the Attorney General, as Chief Prosecutor of the State of South Carolina and as legal advisor to the South Carolina State Grand Jury, from an Order of the Acting Presiding Judge of the State Grand Jury declaring the grand jury without jurisdiction to investigate Ethics Act offenses absent a referral from the House Ethics Committee. The appeal is made pursuant to South Carolina Code § 14-7-1630(G), South Carolina Code § 14-8-200(b)(6), and RULE 203(d)(1)(A)(v), SCACR.

This matter began by motion of Robert W. Harrell, Jr. (“Respondent”), who filed on February 24, 2014 a “Motion to Disqualify Attorney General from Participation in Grand Jury Investigation and Prosecution Pursuant to S.C. Code Section 14-7-1650(C)” {**R. 2**}. The Office of the Attorney General filed its response on March 7, 2014, asserting, *inter alia*, that any such claim was premature prior to any indictment. {**R. 5**}. Respondent replied on March 14, 2014 {**App. 361**}.

An evidentiary hearing was held on March 21, 2014, before the Honorable Casey L. Manning, who was Acting Presiding Judge of the State Grand Jury given the unavailability of the Presiding Judge {**R. 30**}. After examination of two witnesses, the Court took the matter under advisement {**R. 112**}. The Attorney General submitted a Proposed Order Denying Respondent’s Motion to Disqualify on March 28, 2014 {**R. 114**}. Respondent filed its proposed order on March 28, 2014 {**App. 373**}.

On March 31, 2014, the lower court contacted the parties and *sua sponte* raised the issue of whether the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision in Rainey v. Haley, 404 S.C. 320, 745 S.E.2d 81 (2013) precluded the State Grand Jury from investigating the matter since there had not been a referral from the House Ethics Committee to the Attorney General for criminal investigation {**R. 172**}. The Attorney General accordingly

filed a brief on April 2, 2014, supporting subject-matter jurisdiction and opposing the applicability of Rainey {**R. 120**}. Respondent submitted a memorandum supporting the applicability of Rainey on April 2, 2014. {**App. 380**}. The Attorney General filed a supplemental brief on the same issue on April 16, 2014 {**R. 144**}.

A hearing on the jurisdictional question was held on May 2, 2014 before the Acting Presiding Judge {**R. 167**}. After arguments by both sides, the Court took the matter under advisement {**R. 231**}. The Attorney General submitted a proposed order finding Rainey inapplicable on May 7, 2014 {**R. 238**}. Respondent submitted its proposed order on May 7, 2014. {**App. 383**}.

On May 12, 2014, the Court held that the Court lacked subject-matter jurisdiction to convene a Grand Jury in regard to Respondent {**R. 254**}. Accordingly, the Court rescinded its order convening the Grand Jury and prohibited further investigation until such time as the House of Representatives Legislative Ethics Committee made a final determination and/or referred the matter to the Attorney General {**R. 254**}.

On May 19, 2014, the Attorney General filed with the Supreme Court a Notice of Appeal, a Motion to Expedite, and a Petition for Supersedeas and Interim Relief. This Court expedited the matter on its own volition and ruled the Petition for Supersedeas was unnecessary since, despite the lower court's order, the investigation was clearly allowed to proceed pending appeal pursuant to South Carolina Code Ann. § 14-7-1630(G). The parties' various pleadings and proposed orders relative to the Rainey issue were filed by the Clerk of Court on May 20, 2014.

This Appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This State Grand Jury matter was initially brought to the attention of the Attorney General in the form of a citizen's complaint delivered on February 14, 2013. {R. 26}. That same day, the Attorney General forwarded the complaint and attachments to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division [SLED] with a request to assign an agent "for handling as a criminal matter." {R. 237}. SLED completed its initial review and forwarded its investigative report to the Attorney General on December 6, 2013. {R. 12}. The matter was referred to the State Grand Jury on January 13, 2014, with a petition to open a State Grand Jury investigation coupled with information from the SLED report. {R. 170, l. 19, R. 215, l. 11 – 23, R. 229, l. 15 – R. 230, l. 3}.

The Honorable Casey L. Manning, after *sua sponte* raising the issue of subject matter jurisdiction based on Rainey v. Haley, 404 S.C. 320 (2013), ultimately issued an order finding that the South Carolina House Ethics Committee has exclusive jurisdiction because the matter was initialized by a citizen complaint with ethics subject matter. {R. 253}. Judge Manning, citing Rainey, concluded that this matter is nothing more than an "Ethics Act violation" and is a civil matter (not criminal). Thus, he stated there exists no "subject matter jurisdiction" because the "matter is solely within the purview of the South Carolina House of Representatives Legislative Ethics Committee." {R. 253 – 254}. In his May 12, 2014 Order, Judge Manning ordered "that neither the [State] Grand Jury nor any other investigative agency shall take any further action," because the lack of subject matter jurisdiction renders the order that initialized the State Grand Jury action null and void *ab initio*.<sup>1</sup> {R. 254}.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Order specifically found that the protections afforded the Attorney General by S.C. Code § 14-7-1630(G) were not applicable, but this Court found otherwise in its Order of May 22, 2014.

## ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE STATE GRAND JURY WAS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO INVESTIGATE ALLEGED MATTERS OF PUBLIC CORRUPTION ABSENT A REFERRAL FROM THE HOUSE ETHICS COMMITTEE, WHERE: (1) THIS COURT HAS ALREADY REJECTED SUCH A CONCLUSION IN *THRIFT*; (2) *RAINEY* WAS A CIVIL MATTER WITH NO EFFECT ON THE CURRENT CRIMINAL ONE; (3) THE LEGISLATIVE HISTORY, OVERWHELMING CASE LAW, AND THE STATUTORY LANGUAGE ITSELF PRECLUDE ANY CONCLUSION THAT THE REFERRAL PROVISION IS A MANDATORY PREREQUISITE TO INVESTIGATION AND PROSECUTION; (4) THE STATE GRAND JURY'S JURISDICTION AND BROAD POWERS TO INVESTIGATE ARE SEPARATE FROM THE ETHICS ACT, AND IT IS NOT FOREVER CIRCUMSCRIBED BY THE CITIZEN'S COMPLAINT THAT INITIATED IT; AND (5) SEPARATION OF POWERS NEITHER PRECLUDES INVESTIGATION AND PROSECUTION OF SITTING LEGISLATORS NOR PERMITS A MANDATORY REFERRAL TO INFRINGE UPON THE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY TO PROSECUTE CRIME.

This case boils down to whether the Attorney General – who is the statewide elected officer with the constitutional authority to prosecute crimes -- and the State Grand Jury – composed of the group of citizens selected statewide with the constitutional and statutory authority to investigate broadly defined matters of public corruption – need permission by way of referral from the House Ethics Committee before they have jurisdiction to investigate and then prosecute if necessary a member of that very body. The Acting Presiding Judge of the State Grand Jury found that such permission was necessary and without it there was no jurisdiction, relying on this Court's decision in Rainey v. Haley, 404 S.C. 320, 745 S.E.2d 81 (2013). As will be seen, the lower court's decision was in error, because: (1) this Court has already rejected such a conclusion in *Thrift*; (2) *Rainey* was a civil matter with no effect on the current criminal one; (3) the legislative history, overwhelming case law, and the statutory language itself preclude any conclusion that the referral provision is a mandatory prerequisite to prosecution; (4) the State Grand Jury's jurisdiction and broad powers to investigate are separate from the Ethics Act, and the grand jury not forever circumscribed by the citizen's complaint that

initiated it; and (5) separation of powers neither precludes investigation and prosecution of sitting legislators nor allows a mandatory referral to infringe upon the attorney general's constitutional authority to prosecute crime.

**A. The short answer is the issue was already resolved in *Thrift and Peake*.**

Ultimately, this issue is one of statutory construction. While a detailed analysis of statutory and legislative history necessarily follows, the short and quick answer must come first – and that answer is that this Court in Thrift has already clearly and expressly rejected a proposition that the State's constitutional prosecutor needs permission in a specific criminal case before he can do what the constitution commands him to do.

In the seminal State Grand Jury case of State v. Thrift, one of the defendants argued that a *criminal* prosecution was not allowed under the Ethics Act because a referral to the Attorney General from the Ethics Commission was a necessary prerequisite. He also contended that a criminal prosecution was improper because of the statute of limitations in the Ethics Act. This Court swiftly disposed of both contentions -- because the Attorney General was operating in the *criminal* realm of the Ethics Act.

The strong language from this Court in Thrift undoubtedly makes the point best:

Article V, § 24 provides in part that, “[t]he Attorney General shall be the chief prosecuting officer of the State with authority to supervise the prosecution of all criminal cases in courts of record.” **The constitutional provision is dispositive that any requirement which places the authority to supervise the prosecution of a criminal case in the hands of the Ethics Commission is unconstitutional.** As noted earlier in the plea agreement issue, the prosecution has wide latitude in selecting what cases to prosecute and what cases to plea bargain. **This power arises from our State Constitution and cannot be impaired by legislation.**

Recognizing the constitutional implications of the State's argument, we note that **the entire constitutional issue is avoided by recognizing the civil nature of the Ethics Act complaint.** The older scheme allowed for a civil evaluation by the Ethics Commission prior to any criminal referral by the Ethics Commission; and with a narrow

reading, the statute does not run afoul of the State Constitution. We adopt this narrow construction.

In light of our narrow construction of the statute, neither issue raised by Reeves has merit. The statute of limitations applies only to the civil complaint before the Ethics Commission, and the referral system only applies to civil complaints to the Ethics Commission which are referred by it to the Attorney General for criminal prosecution. **THE ABSENCE OF A COMPLAINT TO THE ETHICS COMMISSION WILL NEVER OPERATE AS A LIMITATION UPON THE STATE'S INDEPENDENT RIGHT TO INITIATE A CRIMINAL PROSECUTION.**

312 S.C. 282, 307, 440 S.E.2d 341, 355 (1994) (emphasis added).

Violations of Chapter 13 of the Ethics Act are crimes. See S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1510 & -1520 (Supp. 2013). Accordingly, the South Carolina Constitution would be flatly violated by any ruling or interpretation of the statute that precluded or delayed the Attorney General, together with SLED, from the independent right to investigate or the Attorney General's power to prosecute violations of the criminal law – indeed, this Court has also already upheld that point in State v. Peake, 353 S.C. 499, 579 S.E.2d 297 (2003) (refusing to read a provision as giving DHEC discretion to determine when a prosecution was warranted, as that would infringe on the constitutional discretion of the Attorney General as the State's chief prosecuting officer). The referral system in the statute simply means the relevant civil authority can complete its own regulatory process before it refers a case – but nothing precludes the Attorney General, together with SLED, from independently conducting an investigation or the Attorney General's taking prosecutorial action regardless of the existence of the civil matter.

The presiding judge's order was clearly erroneous as a matter of law when he not only ignored this clear language in Thrift but also even went so far as to hold all "Ethics Act violations are civil in nature, not criminal". {R. 253}.

**B. Nothing in the subsequent decision of *Rainey*, which addressed a civil action, undermines the clear holding of *Thrift*, which dealt with the State Grand Jury and criminal matters.**

Of course, the lower court found that this Court's subsequent decision in Rainey v. Haley meant that referral from the House Ethics Committee is a necessary prerequisite before jurisdiction would exist for a State Grand Jury investigation or prosecution. However, Rainey is a blatantly distinguishable civil action, and nothing in it undermines the obvious and clear holding of Thrift.

The plaintiff in Rainey filed a declaratory judgment action in Common Pleas court seeking a holding that Governor Haley had violated aspects of the Ethics Act, and committed perjury. The appellate court there first noted that the Ethics Act only provides for review of civil complaints by the appropriate legislative committee or the state commission, and that the Act only expressly allows for judicial review in one situation inapplicable in that case -- when a complaint is filed fifty days before an election. Since the one exception for judicial review was not applicable, Rainey found no judicial jurisdiction to hear the matter. Finally, the decision noted that the legislature has constitutional authority over the qualification of its own members, and concluded that judicial oversight at this point "would not only contravene the clear language of the State Ethics Act, it would also violate separation of powers". Rainey, 745 S.E.2d at 326.

Nothing in Rainey affects the clear and unambiguous conclusion in Thrift, as Rainey only addressed the civil regulatory functions of the House Ethics Committee under the Ethics Act, and not the Attorney General's constitutionally unassailable right to initiate the investigation and prosecution in the criminal realm.<sup>2</sup> Rainey was a declaratory judgment action – a civil remedy under a civil statute of procedure, brought in civil Common Pleas court and not General Sessions court. Nothing in Rainey addressed what

---

<sup>2</sup> See Rainey, 745 S.E.2d at 82 ("The Legislature has established a comprehensive statutory scheme for *regulating* the behavior of elected officials, public employees, lobbyists, and other individuals who present for public service." (emphasis added)).

happens in the criminal realm of a State Grand Jury investigation or in a criminal prosecution conducted by the constitutional officer with the sole authority to do so. Undoubtedly, the appropriate Ethics Committee or Commission has exclusive jurisdiction as the civil regulatory body, but the Attorney General has the exclusive power to handle criminal matters, and Rainey only addresses the former point.<sup>3</sup>

Even if a court in the Common Pleas action had declared that the Governor had violated the Ethics Act, that would not allow the court to give any sort of criminal penalty – it goes without saying that prosecutions in South Carolina can only be brought by a constitutionally authorized officer like the Attorney General or the solicitors,<sup>4</sup> and even then only through the constitutionally required process of indictment and then conviction in General Sessions court by either plea or jury trial.<sup>5</sup> Indeed, a prosecutor in his constitutionally protected discretion might elect not to bring criminal charges, even if a court had found in a declaratory judgment action that a law was violated – but the separation of powers doctrine precludes any judicial oversight of that decision. See, e.g. State v. Tootle, 300 S.C. 512, 500 S.E.2d 481 (1998).

---

<sup>3</sup> See generally Elephant, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue, 373 S.C. 186, 190, 644 S.E.2d 728, 730 (2007) (“Administrative sanctions simply are not equivalent to a criminal prosecution. See e.g., State v. Price, 333 S.C. 267, 510 S.E.2d 215 (1998) (administrative suspension of driver’s license does not constitute a criminal penalty).”) See also Charleston Trident Home Builders, Inc. v. Town Council of Town of Summerville, 369 S.C. 498, 502, 632 S.E.2d 864, 867 (2006) (“[a] party is not required to exhaust administrative remedies if the issue is one that cannot be ruled upon by the administrative body.”). Here, the lower court thus clearly erred as a matter of law in concluding that administrative remedies needed to be exhausted prior to a criminal action **{R. 252}**, when the Ethics Committee clearly has no – and could not have any -- jurisdiction over the State Grand Jury or criminal matters in general.

<sup>4</sup> S.C. Const. art. IV, § 24, cl. 2 (The Attorney General shall be the chief prosecuting officer of the State with authority to supervise the prosecution of all criminal cases in courts of record).

<sup>5</sup> S.C. Const. art. I, § 14 (The right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury...), S.C. Const. art. I, § 11 (No person may be held to answer for any crime the jurisdiction over which is not within the magistrate’s court, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury of the county where the crime has been committed, except in cases arising in the land or naval forces or in the militia when in actual service in time of war or public danger.)

Further, Justice Beatty joined by Justice Hearn in Rainey's concurrence recognized these obvious and undeniable points. The concurrence pointed out that the declaratory judgment sought there could be construed as a backdoor attempt to enforce the criminal laws, which it found to be completely improper because first, "a declaratory judgment action is not the appropriate proceeding for determining guilt or innocence in criminal matters," and second, a private citizen has no authority to enforce criminal laws when "[t]he South Carolina Constitution, South Carolina statutes and case law place the unfettered discretion to prosecute solely in the prosecutor's hands". Rainey, 745 S.E.2d at 87. The Rainey concurrence itself then reiterated exactly the ultimate point for the current issue before this Court: "[T]he Attorney General's office, either on its own initiative or via a referral from the House of Representatives Legislative Ethics Committee, could have sought a criminal determination of the alleged misconduct." 745 S.E.2d at 87 (emphasis added) (citing Thrift).

Finally, Rainey's reference to separation of powers does not mean that the doctrine prevents a criminal investigation or prosecution of a sitting legislator for Ethics Act crimes. Undoubtedly, as will be argued in section G, *infra*, the Legislature has the constitutional prerogative to determine the qualification of its own members, and to expel or punish members for violations. 745 S.E.2d at 84 (citing the relevant state constitutional provisions). However, those determinations are separate and apart from the decision to criminally investigate, indict, and prosecute. It is up to the Legislature to determine whether someone indicted or convicted of a crime should remain a member of the body, or should receive some other reprimand or discipline. That power in no way affects the right of the Attorney General to seek a conviction.

Ultimately, Rainey was a civil declaratory injunction action, filed in civil Common Pleas court, by a private citizen with no authority to enforce the Ethics Act – not, like Thrift and the present case, a criminal investigation and prosecution (if

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