RECEIVED

JUN 16 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE STATE GRAND JURY – RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2014-001058
Lower Court Order No.: 2014-GS-47-237

Ex Parte: Robert W. Harrell, Jr.,

Respondent;

v.

Attorney General of the
State of South Carolina,

Appellant.

In re: State Grand Jury Investigation.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ROBERT W. HARRELL, JR.

Gedney M. Howe, III
S.C. Bar No. 2699
Post Office Box 1034
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 722-8048

E. Bart Daniel
S.C. Bar No. 1530
Post Office Box 856
Charleston, South Carolina
(843) 722-2000

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

Committee has its own set of rules to deal with potential conflicts. *See* Rules of the House Ethics Committee, Rule IV.A.⁶ Third, the legislative ethics committees and the State Ethics Commission have referred potential criminal violations to the Attorney General on numerous occasions. (R. p. 77, line 11-21.)⁷ The House Ethics Committee is therefore equipped to deal with ethics complaints, even when those complaints relate to the Speaker of the House. The Attorney General's position would permit him to appropriate the investigation any time allegations were made affecting any Speaker, which would be contrary to the Ethics Act and the constitution.

As the lower court correctly found and the Attorney General repeatedly has conceded in this and other cases, allegations of violations of the Ethics Act are within the exclusive jurisdiction of the appropriate committee unless and until it finds evidence of criminal wrongdoing. *See Rainey*, 404 S.C. at 83, 745 S.E.2d at 327. The lower court, including the State Grand Jury, therefore were proceeding without subject matter jurisdiction.

⁶ Rule IV provides that “[i]n order to involve an investigator who is not a House Ethics Committee member or House staff, the Chairman must determine, with the consent of a majority of the House Ethics Committee members, that specialized talents are necessary, potential conflicts of interest may exist, or additional workforce is necessary.” *Available at* www.statehouse.gov/committeeinfo/HouseEthicsCommittee/HouseEthicsCommitteeRulesAdopted2.7.13.pdf (last visited June 12, 2014).

⁷ For example, the Attorney General testified before the lower court that “[b]y way of example, several years ago, there was the high profile case involving the former lieutenant governor where the ethics commission had the case for I think about five months. And after they finished their investigation and came to the their consent order, which was the conclusion or the final result, that case then got referred to SLED and then there was another additional investigation that lasted 8 months. So it was really 13 months from the time the ethics commission got it until the grand jury returned an indictment.”

E. Respondent does not seek immunity or to be treated as a “super citizen.”

The Attorney General’s brief consistently asserts that Respondent seeks “immunity” from indictment and to be treated as a “super citizen” who is above the laws that apply to others.⁸ This theme is so frequently repeated that it is the primary basis for the Attorney General’s argument for reversal. This argument is incorrect and unfounded.

First, the Ethics Act applies to a very large population, and not just to elected members of the General Assembly. The procedures it creates apply to everyone who is subject to the Act, which includes private citizens who donate to campaigns. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1314 (Supp. 2013) (limiting campaign contributions by individuals). *See also* S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1322 (Supp. 2013) (limiting individual campaign contributions to committees); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1324 (Supp. 2013) (limiting anonymous campaign contributions); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1332 (Supp. 2013) (limiting campaign contributions by committees); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1338 (Supp. 2013) (prohibiting campaign contributions by certain state officers); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1342 (Supp. 2013) (restricting campaign contributions by contractors); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1344 (Supp. 2013) (limiting campaign contributions by public utilities). Second, the Act does not restrain the Attorney General from investigating conduct that amounts to

⁸ *See* Br. of Appellant at 18 (referring to a “safe harbor from prosecution” for legislators); *id.* at 19 (referring to “amnesty for criminal ethics violations”); *id.* at 21 (stating that referral from the House Ethics Committee is “an impediment [that] would essentially give legislators immunity from criminal prosecution”); *id.* at 30 (“[I]t is inconceivable that the General Assembly intended to make legislators a protected class . . . to be prosecuted only when their colleagues consent”); *id.* at 44 (“A conclusion that there first must be a criminal referral from the House Ethics Committee to the Attorney General before any criminal investigation” would make legislators “‘super-citizens shielded from criminal prosecution by virtue’ of who they are, and what position they hold, making them ‘above the law.’”).

a separate crime. It only provides exclusive jurisdiction to the appropriate committee or the commission for the investigation of violations of the Act itself, which are civil in nature. Third, even if the Attorney General has the authority to investigate civil matters, the Act only requires the Attorney General to await action by the Ethics Committee before acting independently.

Under no circumstances does the finding by the lower court that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction constitute a grant of immunity to Respondent or treat him as a “super citizen.” Both Respondent and the Attorney General, like everyone else who is subject to the Ethics Act must follow and adhere to the procedures that it creates for the investigation and disposition of allegations of violations of the Act. The Attorney General does not have the right—much less the duty—to ignore the enacted laws of this State and to attempt to criminalize matters that this Court has previously declared to be civil in nature. It is these actions by the Attorney General that represent a departure from the law and an attempt to apply a different and more punitive standard to Respondent than has been applied to anyone else in similar circumstances.

II. The Lower Court Lacked Subject Matter Jurisdiction Because the Matters Under Investigation by the State Grand Jury Are Not Within its Statutorily Defined Jurisdiction.

A. The State Grand Jury is a creature of statute with limited jurisdiction.

The State Grand Jury exists by virtue of the state constitution, S.C. Const. Art. V, § 22,⁹ and is a creature of the criminal process. *State v. Bramlett*, 166 S.C. 323, ___, 164 S.E. 873, 875 (1932) (observing that the grand jury ““was at the time of the settlement of

⁹ Article 5, section 22 of the South Carolina Constitution provides, in part: “The grand jury of each county, and the state grand jury, as the General Assembly may establish by general law, shall consist of eighteen members, twelve of whom must agree in a matter before it can be submitted to the Court.”

this country *an informing and accusing body only*, without whose previous action no person charged with a felony could . . . be put upon his trial”). (Emphasis in original.) “The General Assembly created the State Grand Jury, in part, to improve the State’s ability to ‘detect and eliminate criminal activity.’” *State v. Green*, 337 S.C. 67, 72, 522 S.E.2d 602, 604 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1610). Part of the intent of the General Assembly in creating the State Grand Jury was “to improve the ability of the State to detect and eliminate public corruption.” S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1610(C) (Supp. 2013). Accordingly, the General Assembly empowered the State Grand jury “to investigate crimes involving public corruption” S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1610(H) (Supp. 2013).

The Attorney General’s brief acknowledges that the jurisdiction of the State Grand Jury is limited and is controlled by the Grand Jury Act. (*See* Br. of Appellant at 31.) Notwithstanding these admitted limitations, the Attorney General argues that the State Grand Jury “has broad powers to investigate and to go where the evidence leads it.” (Br. of Appellant 38.) This argument is incorrect. “The investigatory powers of the grand jury are . . . not unlimited.” *United States v. R. Enters., Inc.*, 498 U.S. 292, 299 (1991); *Bramlett*, 166 S.C. at ___, 164 S.E. at 875 (“It is seen that grand juries have large inquisitorial powers. *But those powers are not unlimited . . .*”) (Emphasis in original.) The State Grand Jury has only such functions, duties, and jurisdiction as has been conferred by the General Assembly, *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1600 to –1970 (Supp. 2013), and at all times is subject to court oversight. *Branzburg v. Hayes*, 408 U.S. 665, 688 (1972) (noting that “the powers of the grand jury are not unlimited and are subject to the supervision of a judge . . .”). Indeed, under South Carolina law, “[i]f, at any time

within the original term of a state grand jury or an extension of a term, the presiding judge determines that the state grand jury is not conducting investigative activity within its jurisdiction or proper investigative activity, the presiding judge may limit the investigation so that the investigation conforms with the jurisdiction of the state grand jury and existing laws or he may discharge the state grand jury.” S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1630(G) (Supp. 2013). Thus, while “a court may not intervene in the grand jury process absent a compelling reason[,]” *In re Grand Jury Subpoena*, 836 F2d 1468, 1471 (4th Cir. 1988), the absence of subject matter jurisdiction is a compelling reason for court intervention under South Carolina law. Therefore, the lower court was not “in clear error”¹⁰ when he ruled that the Grand Jury in this matter lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

The language of the Grand Jury Act contained in section 14-7-1630(G) is also dispositive of the Attorney General’s argument that he is not required to account to the court for the activities of the Grand Jury. (*See* Br. of Appellant at 36.) Not only must the Attorney General make a showing of jurisdiction in order to convene the Grand Jury in the first instance, but also section 14-7-1630(G) makes it clear that the Court maintains a continuing supervisory role to ensure that the proceedings are within the grant of jurisdiction in the Grand Jury Act.¹¹ Moreover, the Attorney General concedes that the State Grand Jury is under the general supervision of the courts. (Br. of Appellant 40 (“While the functions of the State Grand Jury are largely investigatory . . . there is no

¹⁰ *See* Br. of Appellant 37.

¹¹ Although the lower court noted that it was not entering its order pursuant to this section, it is still relevant to the question whether the Attorney General is accountable to the court on jurisdictional issues. Also, this Court relied on this section in declining to lift the stay upon the filing of the Notice of Appeal.

question that its acts are under the general supervision of the Courts.”.)¹² Thus, when the lower court demanded a showing by the Attorney General of evidence of criminal wrongdoing, the Attorney General was obliged to comply or risk dismissal of the proceedings. The argument that the Attorney General was under no such obligation to the court is manifestly incorrect.

B. The jurisdiction of the State Grand Jury is limited to criminal acts.

The jurisdiction of the State Grand Jury regarding “public corruption” is limited to *criminal acts* that fall within the definition provided in section 14-7-1615 of the Code, which provides, in part:

For purposes of this article:

* * * *

(B) The term ‘public corruption’ means any unlawful activity, under color of or in connection with any public office or employment, of:

(1) any public official, public member, or public employee . . . or any person of like relationship, by whatever designation known, of any public official, public member, or public employee under color of or in connection with any public office or employment

* * * *

S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1615 (Supp. 2013).

A construction of the term “unlawful” in the context of the Grand Jury Act to include non-criminal conduct would be plainly wrong. “‘The cardinal rule of statutory construction is that the intent of the legislature must prevail if it reasonably can be discerned from the words used in the statute.’” *In the Matter of Manigo*, 398 S.C. 149,

¹² This concession is contrary to the Attorney General’s argument that the State Grand Jury belongs to no branch of the government. (Br. of Appellant 37.)

157, 728 S.E.2d 32, 35-36 (2012) (quoting *Transp. Ins. Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2010)); *State v. Cnty. of Florence*, 406 S.C. 169, 173, 749 S.E.2d 516, 518 (2013) (“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is a court must ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature.”). “The court must construe statutory language in light of the intended purpose of the statute, and ‘[t]his Court will not construe a statute in a way which leads to an absurd result or renders it meaningless.’” *Cnty. of Florence*, 406 S.C. at 173, 749 S.E.2d at 518 (quoting *Florence Cnty. Democratic Party v. Florence County Republican Party*, 398 S.C. 124, 128, 727 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2012)).

Because the express intent of the State Grand Jury is “to improve the State’s ability to ‘detect and eliminate criminal activity,’” *Green*, 337 S.C. at 72, 522 S.E.2d at 604, the term “unlawful” for purposes of the State Grand Jury Act is necessarily limited to criminal activity. *See id.* at 72, 522 S.E.2d at 604 (“The State Grand Jury’s jurisdiction extends only to certain crimes.”). Any other construction of the term “unlawful activity” would lead to a result in which the State Grand Jury has the power to investigate civil issues, which is clearly not what the General Assembly intended in passing the State Grand Jury Act. Moreover, that result would destroy the reservation of exclusive jurisdiction over alleged violations of the Ethics Act to the House Ethics Committee and would violate separation of powers. If the Grand Jury may investigate any violation of the Act as part of the crime of public corruption, then the “extensive and unambiguous statutory scheme” set up in the Act would become meaningless. *Rainey*, 745 S.E. 2d at 83.

C. The State Grand Jury lacks jurisdiction to investigate this matter.

The lower court did not, as Appellant contends, “misapprehend[] the nature of a grand jury investigation, grafting upon it some sort of probable cause or preliminary showing before it could proceed.”¹³ (Br. of Appellant 36.) Instead, the lower court recognized that this matter involves an ethics complaint which, under *Thrift*, is civil in nature. Because the alleged violations of the State Ethics Act are not crimes pursuant to *Thrift*, the State Grand Jury lacks jurisdiction to investigate this matter. See *Medlock v. One 1985 Jeep Cherokee*, 322 S.C. 127, 130, 470 S.E.2d 373, 375 (1996) (finding that “the state grand jury does not have subject matter jurisdiction to hear civil forfeiture actions”). The lower court therefore properly found that jurisdiction was absent, and properly declared the proceedings to be null and void.

Conclusion

The record in this case and the prior decisions of this Court establish the following:

- The citizen’s complaint upon which the Attorney General is acting only alleges violations of the Ethics Act.
- The exclusive jurisdiction provided for in the Ethics Act has been held by this Court to be required by the doctrine of separation of powers.
- Violations of the Ethics Act have been unambiguously declared by the Court to be civil rather than criminal in nature.
- The lower court found that the “allegations of the citizens complaint were exclusively within the Ethics Code.”

¹³ As noted above, however, such a showing is expressly required under the Grand Jury Act.

- The Attorney General on several occasions publicly stated that the citizen's complaint must, by law, be sent to the House Ethics Committee, and continued to characterize the complaint as "an ethics complaint" even after he referred the matter to SLED.
- The lower court found that "despite multiple requests, the Attorney General has failed to offer or present to the Court any evidence or allegations which are criminal in nature."
- The Attorney General had no constitutional or statutory authority or any factual basis to declare unilaterally that duly elected members of the House who swore to uphold the constitution would not do so in this case.
- In usurping the jurisdiction of the House Ethics Committee, the Attorney General ignored established precedent and violated state law.

Under these circumstances, the conclusion of the lower court that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction is manifestly correct. The Attorney General is not authorized to investigate these civil matters, at least until the House Ethics Committee has acted and the administrative remedies have been exhausted. Moreover, the Grand Jury has no jurisdiction to investigate civil matters and should not be permitted to proceed with a matter that is clearly outside of its jurisdiction. This Court should affirm the order of the lower court in all respects.